AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

KILLINGLY BOARD OF EDUCATION

AND

KILLINGLY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

July 1, 2020 -- June 30, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE 1 PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 2 JUST CAUSE	
ARTICLE 3 DURATION OF AGREEMENT	
Durational Shortage Area Permit (DSAP)	
ARTICLE 4 RECOGNITION CLAUSE	
ARTICLE 5 AMENDMENT	
ARTICLE 6 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
Definitions	2
Grievance	∠ 2
Rights Of Teachers To Representation	
Miscellaneous	6
ARTICLE 7 TEACHER SALARIES	
ARTICLE 8 DEGREE DEFINITIONS	
Definition Of Degrees	' بر
Salary Schedule Advancement	8
ARTICLE 9 LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
Sick Leave	و ۱۸
Family Illness	10
Special Leave Category	11
Personal Days	11
Professional Days	12
Bereavement	12
Attendance At Funerals	12
Military Leave	12
General Leave	13
Extended Leaves	13
Childrearing Leave	14
Association Leave	14
Jury Duty	
ARTICLE 10 INSURANCE BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 11 PERSONAL INJURY BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 12 EMPLOYMENT YEAR/WORK DAY	15
Employment Year	15
Work Day	16
ARTICLE 13 PROMOTIONS	17
Consideration For Promotion	18
ARTICLE 14 VACANCIES	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

ARTICLE 15 CONTRACTS	19
ARTICLE 16 CURRICULUM REVISION	19
ARTICLE 17 TEACHING PERIODS	20
Duty Free Lunch	
Planning Time	20
Teacher Work Load	21
ARTICLE 18 - TEACHING ASSIGNMENTS	
Teacher Transfers	
ARTICLE 19 SPECIAL SCHOOL PROGRAMS	
Goodyear Early Childhood Center	
ARTICLE 20 EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES	
ARTICLE 21 CONSULTATION AND PROCEDURES	24
ARTICLE 22 TEACHER EVALUATION	25
ARTICLE 23 PERSONAL FREEDOM	25
ARTICLE 24 PAYROLL/DEDUCTIONS/SCHEDULES	25
Deductions	25
Pay Schedule	26
ARTICLE 25 BOARD PUBLICATION	
ARTICLE 26 NO-STRIKE CLAUSE	27
ARTICLE 27 SEVERABILITY	28
ARTICLE 28 MEMBERSHIP DUES DEDUCTION	28
Deductions	28
Subsequent Employment	28
Forwarding Of Monies	28
Lists	28
Save Harmless	29 29
Reference To Association	
Definition	
Procedure	29
Recall Procedure	30
ARTICLE 30 STIPENDS	
ARTICLE 31 RETIREMENT SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 32 MILEAGE ALLOWANCE	
ARTICLE 33 EDUCATIONAL CREDITS	
ARTICLE 34 GENERAL PROVISIONS	
APPENDIX A – 2020-2023 SALARY SCHEDULES	
2020-2021 Salary Schedule	
2021-2022 Salary Schedule	34
2022-2023 Salary Schedule	35

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

APPENDIX B	- COORDINATORS/HEAD TEACHER	36
	Per Diem Compensation	
	High School Subject/Program Coordinators	36
	Agricultural Science And Technology Education Personnel	.37
	Head Teacher (Goodyear Program)	38
	Leade Teacher (KCS)	38
	Lead School Counselor	38
	Instructional Coordinators (Pre-K-Grade 8)	38
	Additional Stipend Positions	39
APPENCIX C	- INSURANCE	
	Insurance Program/High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP)/Health Savings Account (HSA)	
	Insurance Carrrier	41
	Premium Share	41
	Section 125 Pre-Tax Deduction	42
	Part-Time Teachers	42
	Wellness Incentive	42
	Excise Tax	43
APPENDIX C - SCHEDULE A (INSURANCE DESCRIPTION)		
	High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP)/Health Savings Account (HSA)	
APPENDIX D	- EXTRA CURRICULAR STIPENDS	45
	Method Of Payment	
	Extra Curricular Stipends	45
	Athletic Positions	45
	Extra-Curricular Positions	47
SIGNATURE	PAGE	

AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE AND ENTERED INTO THIS FIRST DAY OF JULY, 2020, by and between the **KILLINGLY BOARD OF EDUCATION** (hereinafter referred to as the "Board") and the **KILLINGLY EDUCATION** (hereinafter referred to as the "Association"), affiliated with the Connecticut Education Association and the National Education Association.

ARTICLE 1 PREAMBLE

- This Agreement is negotiated under §10-153b through §10-153f of the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut, as amended in order (a) to fix for its term the salaries and all other conditions of employment provided herein, and (b) to encourage and abet effective and harmonious working relationships between the Board and the professional staff in order that the cause of public education may be served.
- 1.2 It is recognized that the Board has and will continue to retain, whether exercised or not, all statutory rights, responsibilities and prerogatives to direct the operation of the public schools in the Town of Killingly in all its aspects, including but not limited to the following: to select, hire, employ, assign and transfer teachers, including the right to prescribe rules and regulations for the maintenance of discipline and for the performance of work; those power and duties specified in Connecticut General Statutes §10-220 through §10-222 inclusive; to decide the need for school facilities, programs and personnel; and to suspend or dismiss teachers in accordance with Connecticut General Statutes §10-151. Nothing herein shall be construed to waive the Association's right to demand bargaining over charges in mandatory subjects of bargaining. These rights, responsibilities and prerogatives are not subject to delegation in whole or in part, however, they shall not be exercised in any manner inconsistent with or in violation of specific terms and provisions of this Agreement or state law.

ARTICLE 2 JUST CAUSE

2.1 Disciplinary actions other than those subject to review under General Statutes §10-151 shall be for just cause. The parties agree that evaluations are not disciplinary.

ARTICLE 3 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

3.1 The provisions of this Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2020 and shall continue in full force and effect, to and including June 30, 2023.

ARTICLE 4 RECOGNITION CLAUSE

- 4.1 The Board recognizes the Association as the exclusive representative, pursuant to Section 10-153b through 10-153f of the Connecticut General Statutes, as amended, of all those certified professional employees of the Board in positions requiring a teaching certificate, other certificate, and/or a durational shortage area permit, and who are not included in the administrators' unit or excluded from the purview of Section 10-153a to 10-153g.
- 4.2 <u>Durational Shortage Area Permit (DSAP)</u>
- 4.2.1 The Board and the Association agree that all the provisions of the collective bargaining Agreement, except just cause (Article 2), promotions (Article 13), vacancies (Article 14), transfers (Article 18) and separation and recall (Article 29) shall apply to any teacher possessing a DSAP. In addition, the parties agree that a DSAP holder shall not accrue seniority or length of service for any purpose of this Agreement.
- 4.2.2 Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a DSAP holder becomes certified as a teacher and is retained continuously by the Board as a teacher after receiving such certification, with no break in service, then the individual shall be credited with seniority and length of service for all purposes under this Agreement, retroactive to the first date of employment by the Board.
- 4.2.3 The Board shall have the right, in its sole discretion, not to renew and/or to terminate the employment of a DSAP holder, and the DSAP holder shall have no right to file and/or pursue a grievance under this Agreement with respect to such action.

ARTICLE 5 AMENDMENT

5.1 This Agreement shall not be altered, amended, or changed except by mutual consent, in writing, signed by both the Board and the Association, which amendment shall be appended hereto and become a part hereof.

ARTICLE 6 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

6.1 <u>Definitions</u>

6.1.1 Grievance

A grievance shall mean a claim by a teacher or teachers covered by this Agreement that

there has been a personal loss or injury because of violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of the terms of this Agreement.

- a. It is understood and agreed that handbooks, Board Policy manuals, or excerpts hereof are not, nor can they, be construed to be part of the terms of this Agreement.
- b. It is understood that any teacher grievant shall, during and notwithstanding the pendency of any grievance, continue to observe all assignments and applicable rules and regulations of the Board until such grievance and any effect thereof shall have been fully determined.
- c. Nothing herein shall be construed as limiting the right of either Party to seek judicial intervention, prior to an arbitration hearing, with regard to questions concerning the arbitrability of a dispute.
- d. Days will mean school days during the teacher work year. After the last teacher work day, and prior to the first teacher work day of the following year, days shall mean business days on which the Board's central office is open.
- 6.1.2 <u>Principal</u> -- Shall mean any person designated by the Board as its agent responsible for the management of a school building or any person temporarily assigned such function by the Superintendent of Schools.
- 6.2 Rights of Teachers to Representation
- 6.2.1 Any aggrieved teacher may be represented at Levels 1 through 3 of the grievance procedure by himself/herself, or at his/her option, by the Association
- 6.2.2 When a teacher is not represented by the Association, the Association shall have the right to be present and to state its views at all levels of the grievance procedure.

6.3 Procedure

- 6.3.1 Grievances must be filed in writing within thirty (30) days after the grievant knew or should have known of the act or conditions on which the grievance is based, otherwise, the grievance shall be considered to have been waived. In the event the act or condition on which the grievance is based occurs after the last teacher workday of the work year, and prior to the first work day in the following work year, the thirty (30) day limitation shall take effect beginning on the first day of school of the subsequent academic year.
- 6.3.2 A grievance filed at any level of this procedure must be in writing and must contain the following information:
 - a. The name(s) of the grievant(s);

- b. A statement of the nature of the grievance;
- c. A statement of the nature and extent of the injury or loss;
- d. A statement of the provision(s) of the contract allegedly misinterpreted, violated, or misapplied;
- e. The result of previous discussions or decisions, if any;
- f. The grievant's dissatisfaction with decisions previously rendered;
- g. Remedy requested.
- 6.3.3 Failure to provide the information required in this Section shall be deemed by the Parties to be a withdrawal of the grievance.

6.3.4 Level 1 -- Principal

If a teacher feels that he/she may have a grievance, he/she may first discuss the matter with his/her Principal or other appropriate Administrator in an effort to resolve the problem informally. If the grievant is still not satisfied with the disposition of the matter, he/she shall reduce the grievance to writing, and submit it to the principal. The Principal shall, within five (5) days of the filing of the grievance in writing, give a written answer to the grievant with a copy to the Association.

6.3.5 Level 2 -- Superintendent of Schools

- a. If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level 1, or if no decision is rendered within five (5) days of the filing at Level 1, the grievant shall within five (5) days of the decision or the expiration of the time limit for rendering a decision (whichever is sooner), file the written grievance with the Superintendent of Schools.
- b. The Superintendent shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of the grievance, meet with the grievant for the purpose of resolving the grievance.
- c. The Superintendent shall, within five (5) days after the meeting, render his/her decision and reasons in writing to the grievant with a copy to the Association and the grievant's principal.

6.3.6 Level 3 -- Board of Education

a. If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level 2 or if no decision is rendered within five (5) days after such meeting at Level 2, the grievant shall within five (5) days after the decision or the expiration of the time limit for rendering a

decision (whichever is sooner), file the written grievance with the Board, with a copy to the Superintendent of Schools. The Superintendent shall forward all documents related to the grievance to the Board.

- b. At the Association's request, the Board or a committee thereof shall schedule a meeting to consider the grievance; the meeting shall be scheduled within ten (10) school days of the receipt of the written grievance.
- c. The Board shall, within ten (10) school days of the meeting, render its decision in writing to the grievant, with a copy to the Association.
- d. The Board's decision shall be final and binding on grievances concerning:
 - (1) Any matter for which a specific method of review is prescribed and expressly set forth by law or any rule or regulation of the State Commissioner of Education; or
 - (2) A complaint by any certified personnel occasioned by appointment to or lack of appointment to, retention in or lack of retention in, any position for which tenure either is not possible or not required; or
 - (3) Any matter which according to law is either beyond the scope of Board authority or limited to unilateral action by the Board alone.

6.3.7 Level 4 -- Arbitration

- a. If the decision of the Board does not resolve the grievance then the grievant may submit the grievance to the Association or a committee thereof for the purpose of determining whether the grievance should be submitted to arbitration.
- b. In the event the Association or a committee thereof determines that the matter should be submitted to arbitration, it shall advise the Board of this determination, in writing, within twenty (20) school days of receipt of the Board's decision or the expiration of the time limit for rendering a decision (whichever is sooner).
- c. Only the Association and not an individual teacher or a group of teachers, shall submit a grievance to arbitration.

d. Procedure for Securing Arbitrator

- (1) The following procedures shall be used to secure the services of an Arbitrator:
 - (a) Within five (5) days after the Association's submission of a grievance to arbitration, the representatives of the Board and the Association shall attempt to agree upon and select an Arbitrator.

(b) If the parties cannot agree upon an Arbitrator, the grievance shall be submitted to the American Dispute Resolution Center, Inc. (ADRC) by the Association, by filing a demand for arbitration under the rules and regulations of the ADRC. The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with such rules and regulations.

(2) <u>Limitation and Recommendation of Arbitrator</u>

- (a) The Arbitrator shall be limited to the issues submitted to the Arbitrator and shall consider nothing else.
- (b) The Arbitrator can add nothing to nor subtract anything from the Agreement between the parties or any policy of the Board.
- (c) The recommendations of the Arbitrator shall be binding, except as otherwise provided by law.

e. Cost of Arbitration

The cost for the services of the Arbitrator including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary travel and subsistence expenses and the cost of the hearing room shall be borne equally by the Board and the Association. Any other expenses incurred shall be paid by the party incurring same.

6.4 Miscellaneous

- 6.4.1 A grievance which arises out of action or inaction of the Board or the Superintendent may be initiated at Level 2.
- 6.4.2 All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants.
- 6.4.3 Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision on a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step. Failure at any step of this procedure to appeal a grievance to the next step within the specified time limits shall be deemed a waiver of further appeal of the decision.

ARTICLE 7 TEACHER SALARIES

7.1.1 The salaries of all teachers covered by this Agreement are set forth in Appendices A and B, which are attached hereto and made part thereof.

ARTICLE 8 DEGREE DEFINITIONS

8.1 <u>Definition of Degrees</u>

8.1.1 The salary schedule lists in Appendix A of this Agreement shall be interpreted and applied in accordance with the following definitions:

a. Bachelor Degree

A Baccalaureate Degree earned in an accredited college or university.

b. Bachelor Degree Plus 30

Thirty (30) hours beyond the Bachelor's Degree in a planned program approved by an accredited college or university.

c. Master's Degree

A Master's degree earned in an accredited college or university. Teachers on staff prior to June 30, 1989, who have completed a Bachelor's Degree plus thirty (30) hours by September 1, 1989, shall be appropriately placed on the Master's Degree level of the salary schedule.

d. Sixth Year

- (1) A possessor of a Sixth Year Certificate of advanced graduate specialty or a second Master's Degree from an accredited college or university. The approval of the program by the Superintendent of Schools must be obtained in writing prior to matriculation into a second Master's Degree program. This decision shall be rendered within thirty (30) days of the written request. To qualify for advancement to the Sixth Year level of the salary schedule, the second Master's Degree or Sixth Year Certificate must be earned in an educationally related field. A teacher who earns a Sixth Year Certificate which does not qualify for advancement to the Sixth Year level of the salary schedule shall receive an annual stipend of three hundred dollars (\$300).
- (2) Any speech and language pathologist who earns a Master's Degree requiring the completion of at least fifty-two (52) credits shall be placed on the Sixth Year degree track of the salary schedule. This provision shall apply to any speech and language pathologist employed by the Board during the 2007-08 school year and/or any subsequent year, regardless of the date that the Master's Degree was earned. However, this provision shall be applied prospectively only, beginning with the 2007-2008 school year.

(3) Effective and retroactive to August 26, 2013, any social worker employed by the Board who has earned a Master's Degree requiring the completion of at least fifty-two (52) credits shall be placed on the Sixth Year degree track of the salary schedule. However, this provision shall be applied prospectively only, beginning August 26, 2013.

e. Doctorate

Should a certificated teacher earn a doctorate in an educationally related field or should a candidate possessing such a doctorate be employed, such person shall automatically be placed on the appropriate step of the Sixth Year level of the salary schedule and shall receive an additional one thousand dollars (\$1,000) each year over and above his/her salary.

8.2 Initial Salary Schedule Placement

8.2.1 Initial Step Placement on the Salary Schedule

- a. The Superintendent, at his/her discretion and following documentation of the teacher's credentials, shall place said teacher on the appropriate salary step:
 - (1) Degree status as defined.
 - (2) At the discretion of the Superintendent, credit for previous satisfactory teaching experience in public or private schools will be given. Previous full-time professional experience may be credited for work as a social worker, psychologist, speech therapist, counselor, registered nurse on a year-for-year basis provided the teaching position for which such a person is hired is directly related to the area of past professional experience.
 - (3) Credit for non-teaching employment experiences that are, in the Superintendent's judgment, directly related to the teaching position for which the teacher is hired, may be granted by the superintendent. Such credit shall be on a year-for-year basis or less.
 - (4) Credit for satisfactory active service in the armed forces of the United States to a maximum of three (3) years or as may be stated in the General Statutes of Connecticut.
- b. Newly appointed teachers shall initially not be placed at a higher salary step as current teachers with the same years of experience.

8.3 Salary Schedule Advancement

8.3.1 Documentation and Advancement

- a. A new and/or experienced teacher desiring correct step placement on the salary schedule must adhere to the following regulations before the correct professional level/step placement can be affected:
 - (1) An official transcript from a recognized institution of learning must be submitted to the Superintendent prior to September 1 of the year in which the step or degree status of the individual is to be reviewed and implemented. If an official transcript from the recognized institution of learning is unavailable prior to September 1st, the Board will accept a letter from the recognized institution prior to September 1st, verifying that the teacher has completed all requirements for the conferral of the relevant degree, subject to the following conditions:
 - (a) The teacher must submit the official transcript prior to December 1st; and
 - (b) If the teacher fails to submit the official transcript prior to December 1st, the teacher shall be required to reimburse the Board for any salary payments processed prior to December 1st based on the Board's anticipated receipt of such transcript.
 - (2) Teachers anticipating a degree change within a given year shall give written notification to the Superintendent of said change by January 31st. The Superintendent will post notification of this requirement in each school, and/or transmit such notification to all teachers electronically through the district's e-mail system, no later than December 31st.
 - (3) The teacher must file with the Superintendent a statement from the college or university that all necessary work for the degree is completed and that the teacher is eligible for the diploma.
- b. A copy of the diploma shall be recorded with the Superintendent once it is received.

ARTICLE 9 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

9.1 Sick Leave

- 9.1.1 Teachers shall be entitled to sick leave with full pay up to fifteen (15) working days in each year. Unused sick leave may be accumulated to a maximum of one hundred and seventy (170) days. Sick days may be taken only in full-day or half-day increments.
- 9.1.2 Acceptable medical evidence may be requested by the Superintendent after three (3) consecutive school days absence for any of the following causes:
 - a. Personal illness.

- b. Exposure to contagious disease which may endanger the health of pupils or other personnel.
- c. However, the Superintendent may request medical evidence for frequent or unusual patterns of absence.
- d. In the event a teacher has been advised by a physician that a medical condition exists that will result in the teacher's being absent for two (2) or more weeks, the teacher shall provide a physician's statement indicating the anticipated duration of the absence.
- 9.1.3 A statement of accumulated days of sick leave and days accumulated toward a retirement bonus will be given to each teacher in September of each year.

9.1.4 Family Illness

Each teacher shall be entitled to use seven (7) sick days, of the annual fifteen (15) days of sick leave, with full pay for family illness. Family shall be defined as spouse, parent or child. In addition, a teacher may use up to thirty (30) days of accumulated sick leave in the event of a family illness for which the teacher is eligible for leave under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act.

9.2 <u>Temporary Disability Leave</u>

- 9.2.1 Temporary disability leave may be granted by the Board of Education upon written request by a teacher. Upon request, the teacher shall provide a physician's statement indicating the nature of the disability and certifying that the teacher is unable to perform his/her employment duties. The statement shall set forth the anticipated duration of the disability period. The Superintendent of Schools has the right to request updated medical reports. Failure to provide such updated reports shall be cause for termination of the leave. Accumulated sick leave shall be made available for use during temporary disability.
- 9.2.2 A temporary disability leave, when granted, shall only be for the period of disability. The period of disability leave shall normally be no longer than twelve (12) months, however, disability leave may, at the discretion of the Board of Education, be extended for an additional period of time. Requests for an extension of disability leave shall be in writing and shall be accompanied by a physician's statement verifying the teacher's need for an extension of the leave.
- 9.2.3 Unless otherwise specified, a teacher shall return to employment from approved temporary disability leave five (5) work days after presenting to the Superintendent of Schools a written physician's certificate verifying the teacher's ability to perform his/her job responsibilities. The certificate shall state whether there are any physical or other limitations which would prevent the teacher from performing any of his/her duties.
- 9.2.4 The Board of Education shall have the right to require a teacher requesting temporary disability leave to be examined by a physician for the purpose of verifying the teacher's need

for disability leave or need for an extension of such leave. The Board shall also have the right to have a teacher on disability leave examined by a physician to determine the teacher's ability to return to employment. In the event the Board should exercise its right to have a teacher examined, the Board shall select the physician to conduct the examination. The cost of this examination shall be at the expense of the Board of Education, to the extent that such expenses are not covered by insurance.

- 9.2.5 Insurance benefits, per insurance carrier regulations, will be continued for the teacher at Board expense, subject to the premium cost sharing obligations of this Agreement, during any portion of the temporary disability leave during which the teacher is using accumulated sick leave. Upon exhaustion of accumulated sick leave, a teacher may continue insurance benefits during a temporary disability leave, at the teacher's expense, except as otherwise required under the Family and Medical Leave Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a teacher has less than one (1) year of accumulated sick leave at the time that the teacher commences a temporary disability leave, then the Board will pay seventy-five percent (75%) of the costs of health insurance for the teacher for a total of up to twelve (12) months from the time the teacher commences such leave, subject to the Board's right, in its discretion, to continue such payment for a period exceeding twelve (12) months.
- 9.2.6 A teacher must render service for at least one-half (½) of the school year, defined as the first work day in a school year through the last work day in that same year, if he/she is to progress to the next salary scale level at the beginning of the school year immediately following his/her reinstatement. Loss of such service time is unrecoverable in the future.
- 9.2.7 Upon return, such a teacher shall be assigned a position. Whenever practicable, he/she shall be assigned to that in which he/she performed prior to the commencement of the leave.

9.3 Special Leave Category

9.3.1 Personal Days

- a. The Superintendent shall, on one (1) week advance written notice (excepting time when emergencies preclude this written notice), grant a teacher leave with pay for up to two (2) days per year for personal reasons, however, such days may not fall immediately prior to or immediately after a school holiday or vacation period. It is expected that requests will be for extraordinary conditions that could not be handled otherwise and when personally feasible, the reasons for said leave will be stated. Included in the above but not limited to are:
 - (1) Meeting legal requirements.
 - (2) Birth of child.
 - (3) Attendance of graduation exercise of self or a member of the teacher's immediate family, as defined in Section 9.3.3 (Bereavement). Religious observances (such use

of days shall not preclude additional days not to exceed two [2] for compelling personal reasons).

b. Personal days may be taken only in full-day or half-day increments. Unused personal days will be converted to sick leave days and added to the sick leave account at the end of the school year.

9.3.2 Professional Days

- a. The Superintendent may, upon one (1) week's advance written application, grant a teacher leave with pay for a maximum of three (3) days per year for:
 - (1) Attendance at professional conferences or institutes of an educational nature.
 - (2) Taking Comprehensive Examinations at an accredited college or university, when such examinations cannot be rescheduled to non-work time.
 - (3) Attendance as part of a residency requirement for an advanced degree at an accredited coilege or university. The degree is part or whole of a planned and prescribed course of study of no less than thirty-two (32) credits which includes a comprehensive admission process and a Capstone requirement.

9.3.3 Bereavement

Bereavement leave shall consist of a maximum of four (4) consecutive school days per year in the event of a death in the immediate family. The immediate family to mean: husband, wife, son, daughter, parent or step-parent, brother or sister, or the same relationship in-law, grandparent or guardian, or grandchildren. Under extenuating circumstances, the Superintendent may grant additional bereavement leave.

9.3.4 Attendance at Funerals

The Superintendent shall, upon proper advance request, grant leave of two (2) days with full pay to attend the funeral of a close friend or relative. Under extenuating circumstances, the Superintendent may grant additional leave.

9.4 Military Leave

- 9.4.1 A teacher will be granted credit up to a maximum of three (3) years on the salary schedule for satisfactory military service in the armed forces or as otherwise provided by the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut.
- 9.4.2 A teacher returning from military service will be placed on the proper schedule in accordance with Appendix A, including one additional year for each year of satisfactory military service, up to three (3) years.

9.5 General Leave

- 9.5.1 A teacher may be allowed leave without loss of salary, to begin programs of study which result from foundation or scholarship grants and which necessitate personal presence in advance of the close of the school year, but not prior to June 1st.
- 9.5.2 Other extended leaves, with or without salary, may be granted at the discretion of the Board, subject to the following conditions:
 - a. Four (4) years of experience with the Killingly Schools System.
 - b. A written application requesting the leave shall be submitted to the Superintendent no later than April 1 of the school year proceeding the leave period.
 - c. The Board's obtaining a certified teacher to fill the position for the period of the leave.
 - d. Nothing herein is intended to prohibit the Board of Education from granting extended leaves with or without salary, upon the recommendation of the Superintendent of Schools for employees who do not meet the criteria set forth above.
 - e. Any teacher granted leave under this provision shall notify the Board in writing no later than April 1st regarding the teacher's intention to return to work at the beginning of the next school year. Failure to submit such written notification by April 1st shall be deemed the teacher's resignation from employment.
- 9.5.3 Any teacher allowed extended leave shall adhere to the regulations set forth in one (1) of the following:

a. Extended Leave Without Pay

A teacher will receive no salary during this period although insurance benefits, subject to insurance carrier regulations, shall remain in effect, the cost of which shall be assumed by the teacher.

b. Extended Leave With Pay

A teacher, as a condition of granting of an extended leave with pay, shall agree to return to employment in the Killingly Schools for a minimum of one (1) full school year, immediately following such leave, or to return upon completion of his/her leave all compensation received from Killingly while on leave. Further, the teacher shall execute a promissory note in the amount the teacher will be paid while on such leave, payable to the Killingly School System. The terms of the note will state that if the teacher chooses not to teach one (1) full school year after returning from the leave, he/she shall be held financially responsible for paying to the Board the amount of money received while on

leave. The Superintendent may waive the conditions set forth in this paragraph when, in the Superintendent's judgment, there are exceptional circumstances. Insurance benefits shall remain in effect, the cost of which shall be assumed by the teacher.

9.5.4 Childrearing Leave

- a. Childrearing leave, for the purpose of this Agreement, is defined as a leave of absence, without pay, following the birth of a child or adoption of a child. Upon the expiration of any FMLA leave applicable to the teacher's childrearing leave, the teacher may continue insurance coverage for the duration of the childrearing leave by paying fifty percent (50%) of the cost of such insurance coverage with the Board paying the remaining fifty percent (50%) of such cost.
- b. Leaves of absence, without pay, for childrearing purposes, shall be granted by the Board of Education. Such leaves shall begin within sixty (60) days of the birth or adoption. In general, this type of leave shall be limited to the remainder of the school year in which it is requested. Whenever a childrearing leave is granted in the last half of a school year, the length of leave may be extended by the Superintendent to one or more semesters of the following school year if requested by the teacher. The length of the leave shall be specified whenever a leave is granted.
- c. Upon return from childrearing leave, a teacher shall be assigned a position. Whenever practicable, he/she shall be assigned a position similar to that in which he/she performed prior to the commencement of the leave.
- 9.6 A teacher must render service for at least one-half (½) of the school year, defined as the first work day in a school year through the last work day in that same work year, if he/she is to progress to the next salary scale level at the beginning of the school year immediately following his/her reinstatement. Loss of such service time is non-recoverable in the future.

9.7 Association Leave

- 9.7.1 In the event the Board schedules negotiation meetings during normal working hours of a school day, five (5) representatives of the Association shall be relieved from all regular duties, without loss of pay, to participate in such negotiations.
- 9.7.2 In the event mediation or arbitration meetings are scheduled during normal working hours, all authorized members of the Association's negotiations committee shall be relieved from all regular duties, without loss of pay, to participate in such negotiations. If more than five (5) members of the Association's negotiating team attend, the Association shall pay the cost of substitutes for the additional members.
- 9.7.3 When it is necessary, pursuant to the grievance procedure in Article 6 of this Agreement for a grievance hearing to be held during school hours, the aggrieved person, at least one (1) Association grievance committee representative, and up to two (2) witnesses shall be

relieved from all regular duties without loss of pay as necessary in order to permit their attendance at such meetings.

9.7.4 Representatives of the Association will be permitted to use professional days, subject to the provisions of Article 9.3.2 of this Agreement, for Association conferences or institutes of an educational nature.

9.8 Jury Duty

9.8.1 Any teacher who is called for jury duty shall receive the necessary leave to fulfill this legal obligation. This leave shall not be deducted from sick leave or from personal days. The teacher shall receive a rate of pay equal to the difference between the professional salary and the jury fee. In the event a teacher is released from jury duty prior to 12:00 p.m., such teacher shall contact his/her building administrator or supervisor and shall report to his/her regular duty assignment if requested.

ARTICLE 10 INSURANCE BENEFITS

10.1 Insurance benefits are defined in Appendix C, the expense of which is to be borne by the Board of Education, unless otherwise stipulated therein.

ARTICLE 11 PERSONAL INJURY BENEFITS

In case of absence because of personal injury which the Worker's Compensation Commissioner or the Board's insurance carrier has determined to have arisen out of and in the course of employment, the teacher shall be allowed to use his or her accumulated sick leave, at the rate of one quarter (¼) sick day deduction for each day of absence, to make up the difference between the Workers' Compensation weekly benefit and the teacher's regular salary. It shall be the teacher's responsibility to pay his or her insurance premium cost share pursuant to Appendix C.

ARTICLE 12 EMPLOYMENT YEAR/WORK DAY

12.1 Employment Year

12.1.1 The work year for teachers shall be set forth in Administrative Regulations. The Board may alter the work year at any time. Except in cases of emergency, the Board shall notify the Association at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective day of such change.

- 12.1.2 The salaries set forth in this Agreement shall be based on a teacher work year consisting of one hundred eighty-eight (188) days, other than the new teachers referred to in Paragraph 12.1.2b, including:
 - a. A total of five (5) professional development days, including one (1) or more orientation and planning days immediately preceding the opening of regular classroom sessions for all teachers, and one (1) or more additional in-service days for professional development activities during the course of the work year.
 - b. The equivalent of three (3) additional work days for the purposes of orientation and related activities designed to support teachers in their initial year of employment in the district. The scheduling of such activities shall be determined by the Superintendent or his/her designee. Teachers hired after this orientation period shall not be obligated to attend such additional work days in their subsequent year of employment.
 - c. The days referenced in paragraph a, above shall be contiguous to the student year and shall not mandatorily be scheduled on weekends or during teacher vacation periods as set forth in the school calendar.
- Any teacher working beyond the one hundred eighty-eight (188) days, other than new teachers referred to in 12.1.2b, or those hired for specific programs, as referenced in Article 19 (Special School Programs), shall be compensated at the per diem rate of 1/188 times his/her base salary for each day so assigned.
- 12.1.4 The preceding is exclusive of any emergency and/or storm days provided for in the school calendar.
- Any teacher entering or terminating service during a school contract year will be credited and have his/her pay computed on the basis of 1/188th of his/her salary at the appropriate level and step for each day of service.
- 12.1.6 The Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee may require teachers to participate in educationally related activities on six (6) evenings each school year, provided such participation does not exceed a total of twenty (20) hours per school year.
- As part of the teacher work day(s) scheduled prior to the opening of school for students, teachers shall be provided with one-half (½) work day for preparation and planning.
- 12.1.8 All per diem calculations required by this contract will be based upon the following formula:

1 x base salary # days in work year

12.2 Work Day

12.2.1 The work day for teachers shall be seven (7) hours and fifteen (15) minutes at all grade

levels.

- The Board and the Association acknowledge and agree that at all grade levels in the school district, the Administration has the right to assign teachers to administrative duties before and/or after the student school day, provided that such duties do not extend beyond the contractual work day set forth above, and provided further that such duties do not conflict with the provisions of Article 17 concerning time for preparation and planning and duty-free lunch.
- 12.2.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing, all teachers at all grade levels may be assigned, on a rotating basis, to work ninety (90) minutes beyond the teacher work day one (1) day per month, excluding the months of December and June. The purpose of such additional time shall be to provide tutoring, detention coverage, office hours, extra help and other assistance to students, and/or to carry out administrative duties as determined by the Administration, before and/or after school. The Administration shall determine the specific days and times during which each teacher shall work such additional time. No more than thirty (30) minutes of such additional time shall be scheduled to occur prior to the start of the teacher workday. The Administration will consult periodically with the Association in determining the types of activities to be conducted during this time period, in an effort to ensure that the time is used effectively for the benefit of students. The Administration will also consult with the Association in developing the rotation and will make reasonable efforts to accommodate the scheduling needs of individual teachers.
- Any extension of the normal workday beyond the workday set forth in Sections 12.2.1 and 12.2.3 shall be compensated at an hourly rate, or portion thereof, which rate shall be based upon such teacher's base per diem salary.
- Present practices, i.e. those which have existed during the school year 2012-2013 concerning before and after workday activities shall not be considered extensions of the normal work day.
- 12.2.6 Before and after school meetings beyond the normal workday shall be of reasonable frequency and length.
- 12.2.7 Notwithstanding the provisions of any other Section of this Agreement, the parties recognize the Board's unilateral right to alter the scheduling of the student day and or create new programs. If the Board exercises such rights, the parties will bargain over any impact for which impact bargaining is required under C.G.S. 10-153f.

ARTICLE 13 PROMOTIONS

Promotions as defined in this section shall mean any position within the bargaining unit which includes a salary differential and/or involves additional or greater responsibility.

- Stipend positions, as set out in Appendix D of this Agreement; shall not be regarded as promotional positions.
- Positions open under the provisions of Section 13.1 above will be posted in each building and/or be transmitted electronically to all teachers through the district's e-mail system, no later than outside publication.
- 13.3 Appointment will be made by the Board of Education upon the recommendation of the Superintendent.
- 13.4 Current professionals indicating interest in a listed position should apply to the Superintendent in writing.
- 13.5 Consideration for Promotion:
- 13.5.1 Consideration for promotion within the Killingly School System will be based upon knowledge, ability, skill, efficiency, character, degree status and certification.
- 13.5.2 Whenever, in the judgment of the Superintendent, the preceding factors are equal or exceed the qualifications of outside candidates, preference will be given to the candidates within the Killingly School System.
- 13.5.3 Whenever, in the judgment of the Superintendent, two (2) or more candidates from the Killingly School System are adjudged as the best qualified candidates and are equal in qualifications based upon the preceding factors, preference will be given to the candidate with the greatest seniority in the Killingly School System.

ARTICLE 14 VACANCIES

- A vacancy shall mean all openings of bargaining unit positions within the school system which occur as the result of death, termination, retirement, approved leave of absence of one (1) school year's duration, resignation, non-renewal, transfer, reassignment, or a newly created position.
- When a vacancy occurs in a building or program, the vacant position shall be posted in the buildings and the Superintendent's office (with a copy to the President of the Association), and/or be transmitted electronically to all teachers through the district's e-mail system. The posted vacancy shall set forth the qualifications for the vacant position.
- All vacancies shall be posted for a minimum of five (5) school days, or five (5) business days during the summer months. However, in the event that the Superintendent receives notice of a teacher resignation or retirement between August 1st and September 1st, the vacancy shall be posted for one (1) day.

- Any teacher who desires to apply for any vacancy shall submit a written letter of intent for any vacant position with the office of the Superintendent within the time limit specified in the posting.
- New school year vacancies shall be posted, and/or transmitted electronically to all teachers through the district's e-mail system, by the previous June 1st, if known by that date. New school year vacancies, which become known between June 1st, and the close of school, shall be posted and/or transmitted electronically to all teachers when known. Summer vacancies need not be posted in the buildings. Postings/electronic notifications shall not be required until the Board budget is adopted and finalized for the new school year.
- 14.6 Teacher vacancies may be filled by candidates outside the Killingly School System if they possess better qualifications, in the judgment of the Superintendent than those teachers already on staff who have applied for such vacancy.
- 14.7 The greater length of full time service, from the most recent date of hire as a certified employee, in the Killingly School System shall be a consideration in filling vacancies except when the filling of a vacancy is necessary to avoid layoff.

ARTICLE 15 CONTRACTS

- The Board shall issue an initial contract. An annual salary notification and intent to return statement shall be issued by June 1st or by the fifteenth (15th) day after final approval of the Board of Education's budget by the town, whichever date is later.
- 15.2 Individual supplementary annual letters of appointment shall be issued for special extra assignments such as listed in Appendix D.

ARTICLE 16 CURRICULUM REVISION

- The Board recognizes its obligations to insure that a constant, on-going evaluation of the school system and/or its component parts is being carried out under the leadership and supervision of the Superintendent.
- 16.2 It is expected that all professional, certified teachers will work with and through their administrators to the end that the curricula will be constantly reviewed, evaluated, and revised, in keeping with current and future educational philosophy.
- 16.3 Where feasible, pilot programs will be undertaken to determine relative worth and acceptance.

ARTICLE 17 TEACHING PERIODS

17.1 Duty Free Lunch

17.1.1 All teachers shall have a duty free lunch period of at least thirty (30) continuous minutes, except that on scheduled and unscheduled shortened school days, the teacher lunch period shall be at least twenty (20) continuous minutes. During such periods, teachers may absent themselves from their assigned buildings provided they have notified the school principal or his/her designee.

17.2 Planning Time

17.2.1 High School (Grades 9-12)

- a. To the extent that the high school maintains a block schedule, each teacher at the high school shall have no fewer than one (1) class block for individual planning/preparation period each day, or an average of five (5) class blocks per week, except that on an alternating day basis (i.e. every other day), the Administration shall have the right to assign the teachers to administrative duties and/or other responsibilities determined by the Administration for one-half (½) of each teacher's planning/preparation block. For any day on which the class blocks are shortened for any reason, on a scheduled or unscheduled basis, the preparation/planning time for teachers shall be shortened on a proportionate basis.
- b. The Administration shall have the right to designate up to one-half (½) of one (1) block of such planning/preparation time per week as time for collaborative planning/preparation (not to be used for administrative duties).
- c. The Board and the Association acknowledge and agree that the Board has the right to designate a portion of the school day for the purposes of providing intervention and/or advisory services to students, and/or for establishing an activity period, and the Board and the Association further acknowledge and agree that such services and activities shall not be deemed to constitute an academic or instructional block.

17.2.2 Middle School (Grades 5-8)

- a. To the extent that the Board maintains a schedule based on the middle school model for Grades 5-8, the following provisions shall apply:
 - (1) All middle school teachers shall be provided with individual planning time equal to one (1) period per day of not less than forty (40) minutes or an average of five (5) per week.
 - (2) Grade Five (5) teachers shall not be required to attend more than one (1) inter-

disciplinary Team meeting per week during their individual planning time.

- (3) An Interdisciplinary Team planning/meeting periods for Grades 6-8 shall be in addition to the teacher's individual planning time.
- b. All Grade 6-8 teachers will have a minimum of two (2) noninstructional periods per day, which shall be inclusive of planning and administrative assignment periods.

17.2.3 Elementary Schools (Pre-School-Grade 4)

All elementary school teachers shall be provided with not less than two hundred (200) minutes of individual planning time per week based upon a five (5) day school week.

17.2.4 Miscellaneous

- a. A teacher's individual planning time shall be scheduled during the normal school day. Under normal circumstances, teachers will be notified of meetings scheduled during their planning period the preceding school day.
- b. Teachers may not absent themselves from the school building during individual planning time except for official school business or when given permission by his/her administrator or designee.

17.3 Teacher Work Load

17.3.1 High School Class Load

To the extent that the high school maintains a block schedule, high school teachers shall not be required to teach more than six (6) academic blocks per school year.

17.3.2 Subject Load

- a. All high school teachers shall not be required to teach more than two (2) subjects. High school teachers will typically be required to teach no more than three (3) teaching preparations at any one time.
- b. At the discretion of the Superintendent, some content areas may be required to teach no more than five (5) teaching preparations in order to preserve the academic program. The Superintendent will consult with the Association in exercising such discretion.

17.3.3 Subject/Program Coordinator's Load

a. To the extent that the high school maintains a block schedule, the load for subject/program coordinators shall be five (5) teaching blocks, one (1) coordination

block, and two (2) planning preparation blocks.

b. This load may be changed if mutually agreed upon. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld. In emergencies of not more than two (2) days duration, subject/program coordinators may be assigned additional teaching periods.

17.3.4 Definition of Terms

- a. For the purpose of this Article, the term subjects shall mean disciplines or courses.
- b. For the purposes of this Article, the term Teaching Preparations shall mean the unique style of presentation or variety of materials used, occasioned by differences in the ability range or assigned level of specific class groups.

ARTICLE 18 TEACHING ASSIGNMENTS

- 18.1 Teachers initially employed by the Board shall receive their tentative building, grade levels and/or subject assignments from the Superintendent's Office.
- 18.2 Teachers already in the system shall receive notifications of the grades, levels and/or subjects they will teach by June 1st.
- Any change from a teacher's current grade level or discipline shall be made only after consultation between the teacher and building administrator. If the change occurs after the last day of the school year the administration will make a good faith effort to have the consultation with the teacher.
- Teachers shall be notified in writing of any change in their programs and schedules for the ensuing school year, including the schools to which they will be assigned, the grades, levels and/or subjects that they will teach as soon as such change is determined.

18.5 <u>Teacher Transfers</u>

18.5.1 A transfer may be voluntary or involuntary. Certification shall be a major consideration in all transfers. For purposes of this Article a transfer shall be defined as a change in assignment from one school building to another school building.

18.5.2 Voluntary Transfers

- a. All voluntary transfers shall be governed by Article 14 (Vacancies).
- b. Prior to submitting a written request for a transfer, the teacher will meet with the current building principal or supervisor to discuss the request.

c. Transfers will be made only if an opening exists for which the teacher is certified and such transfer is in the best interest of the school system. When voluntary transfers are approved, the greater length of full time service in the Killingly School System shall be a consideration except when a transfer is necessary to avoid a layoff.

18.5.3 Involuntary Transfers

- a. When a teacher is transferred involuntarily, it shall be to a position for which the teacher is certified and to a comparable position if possible.
- b. An involuntary transfer shall be made only after a meeting between the teacher involved and the Superintendent, or his designee, at which time the teacher shall be notified in writing of the reason for the transfer.
- c. When involuntary transfers are necessary, the greater length of full time service, from the most recent date of hire as a certified employee, in the Killingly School System shall be a consideration except when a transfer is necessary to avoid a layoff.
- d. If a grievance is filed concerning an involuntary transfer, it shall be initiated at Level Three.
- 18.5.4 In the event of a staff reduction at any school, transfer to a comparable position in another school shall be made on a voluntary basis whenever possible.
- 18.5.5 Notice of transfer will be given to the teacher as soon as practicable and under normal circumstances not later than June 1st.

ARTICLE 19 SPECIAL SCHOOL PROGRAMS

- When in the sole discretion of the Board, summer school, homebound instruction, or other instructional programs are to be initiated, compensation for teaching positions including extended day Detention Supervisor shall be at the rate of twenty-nine dollars (\$29.00) per hour.
- When teachers assume responsibilities such as, but not limited to, chaperoning and these activities occur after five (5:00) p.m., on weekends, or during vacation periods, they shall be compensated at the rates described in Section 19.1, hereinabove.
- 19.3 Teachers interested in such openings may apply by submitting letters of application to the Superintendent.
- 19.4 In filling these positions, first consideration shall be given to teachers regularly employed in the school system.

- The Board shall compensate teachers on a project basis, using the hourly rate in Section 19.1, for curriculum revision/writing projects that are approved in advance by the Superintendent, or his/her designee. The allotted time, compensation and expectations for each project shall be set by the Superintendent, or his/her designee, in consultation with the Association, prior to the commencement of the project.
- 19.6 If the Board requests that a teacher attend a professional development conference or program on one or more days that are not teacher workdays, the Board shall compensate the teacher at the rate of one hundred thirty dollars (\$130.00) per day for a session of six (6) hours or more (in addition to the fees for attendance at the conference or program).
- 19.7 Goodyear Early Childhood Center (GECC)
- 19.7.1 GECC teachers will be paid two hundred ten dollars (\$210.00) per day (or one hundred five dollars [\$105.00] for a half-day [½]) for days worked during the summer. If there are not adequate volunteers to fill summer positions, the Administration may assign teachers to cover the program.
- 19.7.2 The teacher assigned to close the Goodyear program will be compensated for additional time in accordance with Section 19.1, hereinabove. Volunteers will be sought for this position. If there are no volunteers, the Administration shall have the right to assign a teacher to cover the responsibility. Seniority will be a consideration when making the assignment. No one will be required to fill this position for more than one (1) year.
- 19.7.3 If the Killingly Public Schools are closed due to inclement weather but the GECC remains open, up to two (2) GECC teachers will be paid on a per diem basis at the end of year for each such day worked. Volunteers will be sought for these days. If there are no volunteers, the Administration shall have the right to assign such teachers on a rotating basis to cover such responsibility.

ARTICLE 20 EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

20.1 The Board reserves the right to request reasonable participation in such activities which the Board deems necessary for good education. Normally, all participation in paid extracurricular activities shall be made by mutual agreement.

ARTICLE 21 CONSULTATION AND PROCEDURES

21.1 To achieve rapport between the Board and the Association, meetings at mutually agreedtimes, may be held between the Board and the Association to discuss matters of common interest.

ARTICLE 22 TEACHER EVALUATION

- <u>22.1</u> The Board and the Association acknowledge that the subject of teacher evaluation is governed by Section 10-151b of the Connecticut General Statutes.
- Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 22.1 hereinabove, the professional evaluation of a teacher's performance shall not be the subject of a grievance as provided in Article 6 (Grievance Procedure) of this Agreement unless there has been a violation of the established procedures in conducting said teacher evaluation.
- No written evaluation, or written notice of discipline, or written complaint submitted by any person against a teacher, originating after original employment, shall be placed in a teacher's personnel file unless the teacher has been notified and has had an opportunity to review the material. A teacher may submit a written notation regarding any material placed in the teacher's personnel file, and the same shall be attached to the file copy of the material in question. If the teacher is asked to sign the material placed in his/her personnel file, such signature shall be understood to indicate his/her awareness of the material, but in no instance shall said signature be interpreted to mean agreement with the content of the material.

ARTICLE 23 PERSONAL FREEDOM

23.1 The Association recognizes that the Board has not interfered in any way with the private and personal life of any teacher, and has in no way infringed upon their civil rights. The Association accepts the Board's commitment for continuing such practices.

ARTICLE 24 PAYROLL/DEDUCTIONS/SCHEDULES

- <u>24.1</u> <u>Deductions</u>
 - In addition to those payroll deductions required by law, the following payroll deductions may be made:
- 24.1.1 Insurance.
- 24.1.2 Professional Association Membership Dues.
- 24.1.3 Teacher Retirement.
- 24.1.4 Annuity.
- 24.1.5 Credit Union.

- 24.2 Except when limits are prohibited by law or under extenuating circumstances (i.e. births, deaths, changes in marital status, credit union loans) request for changes in deductions will only be honored during the following periods:
- 24.2.1 The first three (3) weeks of September.
- 24.2.2 The first two (2) weeks of January.
- 24.2.3 The first two (2) weeks of April.
- 24.2.4 All requests for deductions must be made in writing on an approved authorization form. All such deductions shall be equally deducted.
- 24.3 Teachers may elect to have a portion of their salary deposited into the credit union.
- 24.4 Pay Schedule
- 24.4.1 In an effort to provide standard salary payment periods on a two (2) week delayed schedule, the number of pay periods may vary from year to year.
- 24.4.2 The first payment in any fiscal year will be made during the second week of July and the last payment will be made as close to June 30th as possible. Payment dates for subsequent fiscal years shall be provided by June 1st.
- The Board shall not be required to honor for any month's deduction any authorizations that are delivered to it later than thirty (30) days prior to the distribution of the payroll from which the deductions are to be made excepting the first payroll in September.
- 24.6 The Board reserves the right to deduct all outstanding obligations previously agreed to by the teacher prior to the issuance of said teacher's final pay, as permitted by law.
- 24.7 Teachers' salaries shall be distributed by direct deposit to the financial institution of each teacher's choice, in one (1) of the following methods:
- 24.7.1 Twenty-one (21) equal payments beginning no later than the second Friday of the work year. In the event the last pay period occurs more than one (1) week prior to the summer recess in June, the Board may, after consultation with the Association, pay teachers in twenty-two (22) equal payments.
- 24.7.2 Twenty (20) equal payments plus a balloon payment beginning no later than the second Friday of the work year.
- 24.7.3 Teachers shall inform the Superintendent's Office of the method of distribution no later than June 15th of the preceding school year. In the event a teacher fails to inform the Superintendent's Office of the method of payment by June 15th, the teacher's salary shall be

distributed according to method "24.7.1", herein. Teachers hired prior to the first day of the work year shall indicate their method of payment upon hiring.

- <u>24.7.4</u> The method of distribution shall be binding for the school year.
- Twelve (12) month personnel shall be paid by direct deposit in either twenty-six (26) or twenty-seven (27) equal bi-weekly installments. All other certified personnel whose activities extend into the summer months shall be paid for the extended period biweekly based upon days actually worked.
- 24.9 Amounts deducted shall be paid to the appropriate agent biweekly as deducted.

ARTICLE 25 BOARD PUBLICATION

- 25.1 The Board shall provide each teacher with a handbook containing a fair summary of governing policies and regulations. The Board shall periodically reissue editions of said handbook to all new teachers. Between reissued editions, summaries of new or revised policy or regulations shall be provided each teacher in a form suitable for inclusion in the handbook. The Board may at its option provide electronic access to the documents referenced in this section, in lieu of written copies.
- 25.2 The inclusion of this section is solely for the purpose of providing information and does not constitute any agreement between the Board and the Association and their content matter shall not provide the basis for any grievance consistent with definition "Grievance" contained in Article 6, Section 6.1.1
- 25.3 The Board and the Association shall share the cost of producing the complete text of the negotiated Agreement or any successor Agreement.

ARTICLE 26 NO STRIKE CLAUSE

- 26.1 The Association acknowledges that the teachers of the Board of Education which it represents are not entitled to strike or to take any other collective action to disable the Board in the discharge of its statutory duty and the Association agrees that such action would constitute a material breach of this Agreement.
- Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to limit or restrict the Board or the Association in its right to seek and obtain such judicial relief as it might be entitled to have, in law or in equity, for injunction or damages or both in the event of such breach.

26.3 In the event any teacher or teachers of said Board strike or take any collective action to disable said Board in the discharge of its statutory duties so as to constitute a material breach of this agreement, the said Association shall not be held liable or responsible for said strike or breach provided that it takes immediate action and utilizes all powers within its discretion to abate said condition. It is further agreed that said Association shall formally and expeditiously disavow and declare said act or acts to be in violation of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 27 SEVERABILITY

27.1 In the event that any provision or portion of the Agreement is ultimately ruled invalid for any reason by an authority of established and competent legal jurisdiction, the balance and remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 28 MEMBERSHIP DUES DEDUCTION

28.1 Deductions

The Board agrees to deduct from each teacher for whom a voluntary written dues deduction authorization is submitted, an amount equal to the Association membership dues by means of payroll deductions. The amount deducted from each paycheck for membership dues shall be equal to the total Association membership dues divided by the number of paychecks from and including the first paycheck in September through and including the last paycheck in June. The amount of Association membership dues shall be certified by the Association to the Board of Education prior to the opening of school each year.

28.2 Subsequent Employment

28.2.1 Those teachers whose employment commences after the start of the school year shall pay a pro-rated amount of Association membership dues equal to the percentage of the remaining school year.

28.3 Forwarding of Monies

28.3.1 The Board agrees to forward to the Association bi-weekly a check for the amount of money deducted during that period. The Board shall include a list of teachers for whom such deductions were made.

28.4 Lists

28.4.1 No later than the first (1st) paycheck in October of each school year the Board shall provide the Association with a list of all teachers of the Board and the positions held by said teachers. The Board shall notify the Association monthly of any changes in said list.

28.5 Save Harmless

- 28.5.1 In any case in which a teacher or teachers contest a deduction under the provisions of this Article and it is necessary for the Board to defend its position and engage legal counsel and to incur expenses in so doing, the Association further agrees to save the Board harmless and to reimburse it for any damages including salaries, court costs, etc., provided that the Board notifies the Association of any claims made against it.
- 28.5.2 In the event that any court of last resort determines that this Article is contrary to the laws of the State of Connecticut or is unenforceable under such laws, the parties will meet and bargain such new language as is necessary to comply with the laws as determined by such court.

28.6 Reference to Association

28.6.1 The singular reference to the "Association" in this Article shall be interpreted as referring to the Killingly Education Association, the Connecticut Education Association, and the National Education Association.

ARTICLE 29 SEPARATION AND RECALL PROCEDURES FOR REDUCTION IN PROFESSIONAL STAFF

29.1 <u>Definition</u>

29.1.1 Reduction in professional staff shall mean elimination of a position or positions of certificated teachers employed by the Board.

29.2 Procedure

29.2.1 The order of reduction designed to preserve the concept of seniority shall be as follows:

a. Tenure

- (1) Non-tenured teachers.
- (2) Tenured teachers.
- b. Other Criteria -- In the event that tenure is found not to be definitive enough, other criteria shall be used within each level as follows:
 - (1) Non-tenured Teachers Layoff of non-tenured teachers shall be based upon qualifications and performance, as evidenced by teacher evaluations conducted in accordance with the school district's performance evaluation plan.

- (2) Tenured Teachers The following factors shall apply, in the following order:
 - (a) Total contractual experience in the system from the most recent date of hire as a certified employee and specific related experience or special training. The term "date of hire" shall mean the teacher's first (1st) day of work in the district. In the event that two (2) or more teachers have the same date of hire, then the determination of "total contractual experience" shall be based upon the date each teacher signed his/her initial contract. For the purposes of this paragraph, teachers employed in the Goodyear Early Childhood Center (GECC) program will be credited only with those years of service in the GECC program occurring during or after the 2010-11 school year.
 - (b) Experience in position (elementary, middle, or secondary, not grade or subject taught) in the system. For the purposes of this paragraph only, teachers employed in the GECC program will be credited for total continuous service in the GECC program, including years of service occurring prior to 2010-11.
 - (c) Degree status.
 - (d) Mutual recommendations of principal and superintendent of schools.

29.3 Recall Procedure

29.3.1 Teachers who are released from employment because of elimination of their positions shall be given first opportunity, during the following recall periods, to fill a vacant position for which they are certified in the reverse order of layoff.

29.3.2 Recall Periods

- a. Non-tenured teachers in the Killingly Public Schools shall be eligible for recall for one (1) year following elimination of their position.
- b. Tenured teachers in the Killingly Public Schools shall be eligible for recall for three (3) years following elimination of their position.
- c. The teacher will accept or reject in writing this offer of rehire within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of written notification of position availability from the Board. This notification of position availability will be mailed to the teacher's last known address. The teacher's failure to provide to the Board written notification concerning the offer of rehire within the time specified shall be considered a rejection of the offer.
- d. If the teacher rejects an offer of employment which is equivalent in hours to his/her previously held teaching position, the teacher shall forfeit all recall rights.
- 29.4 Separation of a teacher under this Article shall not, during the recall period, adversely affect accumulated sick leave, eligibility for placement on the salary schedule, or seniority, upon a teacher's return from layoff. During the recall period, the teacher shall not accrue additional

- rights or benefits under this Agreement, and in particular upon rehire from layoff, shall not be credited for salary schedule advancement or seniority.
- Nothing herein shall require the promotion of a teacher to a position of greater authority or compensation (e.g. eleven [11] or twelve [12] month positions, subject/program coordinator positions).

ARTICLE 30 STIPENDS

- 30.1 A teacher appointed to an extra-curricular position shall receive the stipend set forth in Appendix D.
- The Board and the Association acknowledge that appointments to stipend positions are one (1) year appointments. A teacher appointed to a stipend position will be reappointed unless he/she is formally notified in writing by June 1st that he/she will not be reappointed. Vacancies due to non-appointment shall be posted, and/or transmitted electronically to all teachers through the district's e-mail system, as soon as practicable.
- In the event of a vacancy in a stipend position, the position shall be posted in each school building and/or transmitted electronically to all teachers through the district's e-mail system.

 Qualified applicants who are teachers in the Killingly School System shall be preferred over equally qualified applicants from outside the school system.

ARTICLE 31 RETIREMENT-SICK LEAVE

- A teacher who was hired prior to July 1, 2007 and who retires under the Teachers' Retirement Act, after a minimum of twenty (20) years of service to Killingly, shall receive twenty dollars (\$20) for each unused day of accumulated sick leave with no limitation upon the number of accumulated days.
- In the event that a teacher dies after twenty (20) years of service to Killingly and has not received any benefits pursuant to this Article, the accumulated benefits under this Article will be paid to the teacher's estate.
- 31.3 The provisions of this Article shall not apply to teachers hired on or after July 1, 2007.

ARTICLE 32 MILEAGE ALLOWANCE

32.1 Mileage allowance for automobiles driven on official school business shall be reimbursed at

the current Internal Revenue Service (IRS) rate per mile. In order to be eligible for such reimbursement, the teacher must submit a written request for reimbursement to the Business Office no later than the thirtieth (30th) calendar day of the calendar month following the travel. Notwithstanding the foregoing, reimbursement requests for mileage for the month of May must be submitted by June 10th, and reimbursement requests for mileage for the month of June must be submitted by June 30th.

ARTICLE 33 EDUCATIONAL CREDITS

- 33.1 Subject to prior written approval of the Superintendent, or designee, teachers who have earned their Master's Degrees shall be reimbursed for up to twelve (12) credit hours of coursework per year (no more than six [6] credit hours per semester during the school year) for courses beyond their Master's Degrees, subject to the following conditions:
- 33.1.1 Reimbursement per credit hour shall not exceed two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00).
- 33.1.2 Fifty percent (50%) of the costs of texts and materials up to one hundred dollars (\$100) per course shall be reimbursed.
- 33.1.3 The course must be in the area of the teacher's current assignment or in an educationally related field approved by the Superintendent.
- 33.1.4 A transcript or other official record of successful completion of the course must be forwarded to the Superintendent.
- 33.1.5 A summary of course costs must be forwarded to the Superintendent at the time the teacher requests the Superintendent's approval.
- The obligation of the Board of Education under this Article shall not exceed fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) per fiscal year.

ARTICLE 34 GENERAL PROVISIONS

34.1 It shall continue to be the policy of the Board and the Association that there shall be no illegal discrimination against any teacher or applicant because of race, color, religious creed, national origin, ancestry, genetic information, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, political affiliation, Association affiliation or activity.

APPENDIX A
SALARY SCHEDULE FOR 2020-2021

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE	STEP	<u>BA</u>	<u>BA+30</u>	MASTERS	SIXTH YEAR
0	3	44,450	45,890	46,532	49,572
1-4	4	46,349	47,789	48,429	51,468
5	5	48,752	50,188	50,829	53,867
6	6	52,048	53,492	54,139	57,190
7	7	55,345	56,798	57,447	60,511
8-11	8	58,642	60,101	60,758	63,833
12	9	61,939	63,406	64,067	67,155
13-14	10	65,236	66,710	67,376	70,478
15	11	68,533	70,014	70,685	73,800
16	12	71,830	73,319	73,996	77,122
17	13	75,873	77,389	78,077	81,245
18 or more	14	77,576	79,126	79,829	83,068

Note: Step movement during the 2020-2021 year of the Agreement.

APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE FOR 2021-2022

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE	<u>STEP</u>	<u>BA</u>	<u>BA+30</u>	MASTERS	SIXTH YEAR
0	3	44,539	45,982	46,625	49,671
1	4	46,442	47,885	48,526	51,571
2-5	5	48,850	50,288	50,931	53,975
6	6	52,152	53,599	54,247	57,304
7	7	55,456	56,912	57,562	60,632
8	8	58,759	60,221	60,880	63,961
9-12	9	62,063	63,533	64,195	67,289
13	10	65,366	66,843	67,511	70,619
14-15	11	68,670	70,154	70,826	73,948
16	12	71,974	73,466	74,144	77,276
17	13	76,025	77,544	78,233	81,407
18 or more	14	78,972	80,550	81,266	84,563

Note: Step movement during the 2021-2022 year of the Agreement.

APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE FOR 2022-2023

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE	<u>STEP</u>	<u>BA</u>	<u>BA+30</u>	<u>MASTERS</u>	SIXTH YEAR
0	3				
0-1	4	46,558	48,005	48,647	51,700
2	5	48,972	50,414	51,058	54,110
3-6	6	52,282	53,733	54,383	57,447
7	7	55,595	57,054	57,706	60,784
8	8	58,906	60,372	61,032	64,121
9	9	62,218	63,692	64,355	67,457
10-13	10	65,529	67,010	67,680	70,796
14	11	68,842	70,329	71,003	74,133
15-16	12	72,154	73,650	74,329	77,469
17	13	76,215	77,738	78,429	81,611
18 or more	14	80,354	81,960	82,688	86,043

Note: Step movement during the 2022-2023 year of the Agreement.

APPENDIX B COORDINATORS/HEAD TEACHER

B.1 Per Diem Compensation

- B.1.1 Teachers working in the positions set forth in Section B.1 shall work the work year as set forth in Administrative Regulation and up to an additional twenty (20) days which shall be scheduled by the Superintendent, or designee. Scheduling of individual teachers shall be on the basis of which teacher normally would have responsibility for the work that needs to be done. If no such determination can be made, the work shall be scheduled in an equitable manner.
- B.1.2 The Superintendent, or designee shall provide such personnel with their additional work day schedule as soon as practicable but no later than June 1st unless there is no final budget determination.
- <u>B.1.3</u> Teachers working in the positions set forth in Section B.1 shall receive regular step plus per diem compensation as provided for in Article 12 <u>Employment Year/Workday</u>, Section 12.1 (<u>Employment Year</u>), Paragraph 12.1.3.
- <u>B.1.4</u> Positions in this category include:
 - a. Counselors.
 - b. Social Workers.
 - c. School Psychologists.
 - d. High School Band Director.
 - e. High School Athletic Director.
 - f. High School Special Education Coordinator.
 - g. High School Football Coach

B.2 High School Subject/Program Coordinators

- <u>B.2.1</u> Persons in this category shall receive salary at the appropriate step plus:
 - a. \$1,114 for the 2020-2021 school year;
 - \$1,142 for the 2021-2022 school year; and
 - \$1,171 for the 2022-2023 school year.
 - b. \$261 per certified person in the department for the 2020-2021 school year;
 - \$268 for the 2021-2022 school year; and
 - \$275 for the 2022-2023 school year.

- B.2.2 Positions in this category include:
 - a. English Coordinator.
 - b. World Languages Coordinator.
 - c. ALPS Coordinator.
 - d. Mathematics Coordinator.
 - e. Guidance Coordinator.
 - f. Social Studies Coordinator.
 - g. Science Coordinator.
 - h. Music Coordinator.
 - i. Business Education Coordinator.
 - j. Technology Education Coordinator.
 - k. Family & Consumer Science Coordinator.
 - Physical Education Coordinator.
 - m. Art Coordinator.
 - n. Special Education Coordinator.
- B.3 Agricultural Science and Technology Education Personnel
- B.3.1 Agricultural Science and Technology Education personnel shall work the regular school year up to a maximum of two hundred twenty-seven (227) days and not less than two hundred eleven (211) days. Such additional days may include school vacation periods.
- B.3.2 The Superintendent, or designee shall provide such teachers with their additional workday schedule as soon as practicable and not later than June 1st unless there is no final budget determination.
- B.3.3 Compensation is as follows:
 - a. Department Head
 - (1) Per diem compensation pursuant to Article 12 Employment Year/Workday.
 - (2) \$1,345 (227/188 x \$1,114) for the 2020-2021 school year;
 - \$1,379 (227/188 x \$1,142 for the 2021-2022 school year; and
 - \$1,414 (227/188 x \$1,171) for the 2022-2023 school year.
 - (3) $-$315 (227/188 \times $261)$ per certified person in the department for the 2020-2021 school year;

- $$324 (227/188 \times $268)$ per certified person in the department for the 2021-2022 school year; and
- $$332 (277/188 \times $275)$ per certified person in the department for the 2021-2022 school year.

b. Teachers

Regular step plus per diem compensation as provided for in Article 12 – <u>Employment Year/Workday</u>, Section 12.1 (<u>Employment Year</u>), Paragraph 12.1.3.

B.4 Head Teacher (Goodyear Program)

- B.4.1 The Superintendent, or designee will designate one (1) teacher to serve as the Head Teacher for the Goodyear program in the absence of the Principal. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, the Superintendent, or designee shall have the right to determine which teacher shall be designated as the Head Teacher and the Superintendent, or designee shall have no obligation to post the position of Head Teacher. The Head Teacher will serve for a term of one-half (½) of the school year (subject to the Superintendent's, or designee's right to appoint an individual to one or more additional terms of one-half (½) of the school year).
- A teacher serving as Head Teacher for the Goodyear program shall be paid seven hundred sixty-nine dollars (\$769) in 2020-2021; seven hundred eighty-eight dollars (\$788) in 2021-2022; and eight hundred eight dollars (\$808) in 2022-2023 per half-year (½) term.

B.5 Lead Teacher (KCS)

<u>B.5.1</u> The Lead Teacher at Killingly Central School will be paid an annual stipend at Level 1, as set forth in Appendix D (Extra-Curricular Stipends).

B.6 Lead School Counselor

B.6.1 The Lead School Counselor will work thirty (30) additional days beyond the regular teacher work year, which shall be scheduled by the Superintendent, or his/her designee. In addition to per diem compensation for such additional days, the Lead School Counselor will be paid an annual stipend at Level 1, as set forth in Appendix D (Extra-Curricular Stipends).

B.7 <u>Instructional Coordinators (Pre-K-Grade 8)</u>

Instructional Coordinators at the Pre-K-Grade 8 level will work up to four (4) additional days beyond the regular teacher work year, which shall be scheduled by the Superintendent, or designee. In addition to per diem compensation for such additional days, Instructional Coordinators will be paid an annual stipend at Level 6, as set forth in Appendix D (Extra-Curricular Stipends).

B.8 Additional Stipend Positions

The following additional stipend positions shall be compensated according to the Levels listed below and set forth in Appendix D (Extra Curricular Stipends), Section D.2:

- a. Level 1 High School Channel 22 Manager.
- b. Level 4 High School Technology Resource Teachers.
- c. Level 5 High School Auditorium Technical Coordinator.
- d. Level 6 Middle School Technology Resource Teacher.
- e. Level 6 Elementary School Technology Resource Teacher.

APPENDIX C INSURANCE

- <u>C.1</u> The Board shall provide at its expense, except as provided for in paragraph C.3, the following insurance benefits:
- <u>C.1.1</u> High Deductible Health Plan/Health Savings Account (HSA) as outlined in Schedule A for teachers and family with the following components:
 - a. Deductibles and cost share maximums as set forth in Schedule A; and an unlimited life time maximum.
 - b. For each eligible full-time teacher, the Board will contribute the following amounts into the teacher's HSA account, as applicable:
 - (1) 2020-2021: One thousand one hundred twenty-five (\$1,125) for individual coverage and two thousand two hundred fifty (\$2,250) for family coverage.
 - (2) <u>2021-2022</u>: One thousand one hundred twenty-five (\$1,125) for individual coverage and two thousand two hundred fifty (\$2,250) for family coverage.
 - (3) 2022-2023: One thousand one hundred twenty-five (\$1,125) for individual coverage and two thousand two hundred fifty (\$2,250) for family coverage.
 - c. One-half (½) of the Board's contribution toward the HDHP/HSA deductible will be deposited into the HDHP/HSA accounts in the first payroll in September and the remaining half (½) will be deposited in the first payroll in January. The Board's HSA contribution shall also be prorated for teachers hired during the contract year, based on the number of months remaining in the contract year. The parties acknowledge that the Board's contribution toward the funding of the HDHP/HSA plan is not an element of the underlying insurance plan, but rather relates to the manner in which the deductible shall be funded for actively employed teachers. The Board shall have no obligation to fund any portion of the HDHP/HSA deductible for retirees or other individuals upon their separation from employment.
 - d. A Health Reimbursement Account (hereinafter referred to "HRA") shall be made available for any teacher who is precluded from participating in the Health Savings Account (HSA) because the teacher receives Medicare and/or veterans' benefits. The annual maximum reimbursement by the Board for teachers participating in the HRA shall not exceed the dollar amount of the Board's annual HSA contribution for teachers enrolled in the HSA.
 - e. Following exhaustion of the applicable deductible, prescription drugs shall be subject to the following post-deductible co-payments:

- (1) Public Sector 3-Tier Option 2 plan with a zero dollar (\$0) generic/twenty-five dollar (\$25.00) formulary brand/forty dollar (\$40.00) non-formulary and a two (2) times the foregoing co-pay for mail orders with an unlimited calendar year maximum.
- (2) The retail prescription is a thirty (30) day supply and the mail order is a ninety (90) day supply.
- <u>C.1.2</u> Individual life insurance in the amount of twenty-five thousand dollars (\$25,000). Such policy shall contain an accidental death and dismemberment rider.
- C.1.3 Full service family dental plan (Blue Cross or equal benefits plan).
- <u>C.1.4</u> The maximum age for dependent student eligibility is twenty-six (26) years.
- C.2 In each case where the name of a particular company or a specific plan has been used in this Appendix, the intent is to indicate a general type of insurance and not to establish a relationship with one particular company or any specific plan. The Board may provide such health insurance coverage, either through the carrier(s) listed in this Appendix, through alternate carriers, or through self insurance, either in whole or in part, provided that the overall level of benefits, when considered as a whole, remains substantially comparable to the overall level of benefits in effect immediately preceding any such change.
- C.2.1 The Board shall inform the Association, in writing, of its intent to change insurance carriers at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the change. In the event the Association does not agree that the new insurance plan offers comparable benefits, the Association shall so inform the Board, in writing, at least ten (10) days prior to the effective date of the change. The issue of whether the proposed insurance plan offers comparable insurance benefits shall be submitted to arbitration. The Arbitrator shall be mutually selected by the Board and the Association. Should the parties be unable to mutually select an Arbitrator, the matter shall be submitted to the American Arbitration Association which shall administrate the proceedings under its voluntary arbitration rules. The Arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall be final and binding, except as otherwise provided by law. There shall be no change in the insurance plan pending final agreement of the arbitrator's award.

C.3 Premium Share

- C.3.1 High Deductible Health Plan/Health Savings Account (HSA) The teacher will pay the following percentages of the allocation rates for the insurance set out in Sections C.1.1 and C.1.3 herein for individual and family coverage:
 - a. Effective July 1, 2020, twenty-two percent (22%).
 - b. Effective July 1, 2021, twenty-two percent (22%).
 - c. Effective July 1, 2022, twenty-two percent (22%).

- C.3.2 The teacher will pay his/her share of the premium by automatic payroll deductions. In this regard, to be eligible to receive such insurance benefits, each teacher must submit a wage deduction authorization permitting the Board to deduct such premium costs. Each teacher will be informed in writing prior to the first deduction of the premium cost. It is understood by the parties that the teacher premium share set forth herein provides for insurance coverage throughout the months of July and August of each year.
- <u>C.3.3</u> A teacher may forego or withdraw from such coverage rather than pay such additional costs. Reinstatement of such coverage shall be subject to insurance carrier rules and regulations.

<u>C.4</u> <u>Section 125 Pre-tax Deduction</u>

The Board will adopt an Internal Revenue Code 125 Pre-Tax Premium Conversion Account for employee premium contributions. The Internal Revenue Code and its implementing regulations shall govern the administration of this plan.

C.5 Part time Teachers

- <u>C.5.1</u> Teachers who work fifty percent (50%) or more of a full time teacher's assignment shall be eligible to enroll themselves and their dependents in the insurance program set forth in Section C.1 of this Appendix. Such insurance shall be provided at the Board's expense subject to the premium cost sharing provisions of Section C.3.
- C.5.2 Teachers who work less than fifty percent (50%) of a full time teacher's assignment shall be eligible to enroll themselves and their dependents in the insurance program set forth in Section C.1 of this Appendix. Such teacher shall pay the full cost of the insurance and the Board will have no responsibility to make a payment toward the premium cost for the insurance. In order to receive such insurance, the teacher must submit a wage deduction authorization permitting the Board to deduct the cost of the insurance.

C.6 Wellness incentive

C.6.1 The HDHP/HSA plan set forth in this Appendix shall include a wellness incentive program, designed to provide early diagnosis and appropriate information to patients so that they and their health care professionals can determine appropriate, timely courses of treatment as needed. The wellness program will include preventive physical examinations. If the teacher and the teacher's spouse, if applicable, complete one (1) preventive physical examination during the term of this Agreement, the Board will make a one-time contribution into the teacher's HSA account, in the following amounts, as applicable:

a. Individual coverage: One hundred dollars (\$100).

b. Family coverage: Two hundred dollars (\$200).

c. For the purposes of this paragraph, the measurement period for completing the physical

examination will be the calendar year. The Board will make its additional HSA contributions in the first (1st) payroll in September following completion of the calendar year during which the physical examinations are completed.

C.7 Excise Tax

C.7.1 The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ("PPACA"; Public Law 111-148) has set forth and codified under the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) §49801 the imposition of an excise tax related to employer provided health insurance plans that exceed certain value thresholds. Should any federal statute or regulation pertaining to IRC §49801 be mandated to take effect during the term of this Agreement triggering the imposition of an excise tax with respect to any of the contractually agreed upon insurance plans offered herein, the parties agree to commence mid-term negotiations in accordance with the Teacher Negotiation Act. During such mid-term negotiations, the parties will re-open Appendix C (Insurance) for the purpose of addressing the impact of the excise tax. No other provision of the Agreement shall be re-opened during such mid-term negotiations.

APPENDIX C SCHEDULE A

CENTURY PREFERRED HDHP/HSA \$2,250/\$4,500 ANNUAL DEDUCTIBLE

COST SHARE PROVISIONS

	In-Network Member Pays	Out-of-Network Member Pays
Annual Deductible (individual/aggregate family)	\$2,25	0/\$4,500
Coinsurance	0% after deductible	20% after deductible, up to co- insurance maximum
Cost Share Maximum (individual/aggregate family)	\$5,500	0/\$11,000
Lifetime Maximum	Unlimited	Unlimited
Preventive Care	Deductible not applicable	20% after deductible, subject to co- insurance limits
Prescription Drug Coverage	After deductible is metse	ee Appendix C, Section C.1.1e

APPENDIX D EXTRA CURRICULAR STIPENDS

D.1 Method of Payment

- <u>D.1.1</u> Payment for coaching positions shall be made by separate paycheck twice a season: midseason and within two (2) weeks following completion of the regular season and in no case later than the last payday in June.
- D.1.2 Payment for non-coaching extra-curricular positions shall be made by separate paycheck(s) twice a year during the first two (2) weeks in February and no later than the last payday in June.
- <u>D.1.3</u> Employees holding extra-curricular positions shall receive with their annual letters of appointment a W-4 form on which to indicate the rate at which their stipend is to be taxed. This form shall be returned with the letter of appointment. If no W-4 is returned, the stipends shall be taxed at the same rate as the employee's regular salary.

D.2 Extra Curricular Stipends

<u>LEVEL</u>	2020-2021	2021-2022	2022-2023
Level 1	\$7,904	\$8,029	\$8,154
Level 2	\$6,452	\$6,577	\$6,702
Level 3	\$5,191	\$5,316	\$5,441
Level 4	\$4,099	\$4,224	\$4,349
Level 5	\$3,344	\$3,469	\$3,594
Level 6	\$3,135	\$3,260	\$3,385
Level 7	\$2,798	\$2,923	\$3,048
Level 8	\$2,123	\$2,248	\$2,373
Level 9	\$1,275	\$1,400	\$1,525

D.3 Athletic Positions

D.3.1 LEVEL 1: High School Athletic Director

High School Head Football Coach

<u>D.3.2</u> <u>LEVEL 2</u>:

D.3.3 LEVEL 3: High School Head Boys' Basketball Coach

High School Head Girls' Basketball Coach

High School Head Wrestling Coach Middle School Athletic Director

D.3.4	LEVEL 4:	High School Head Baseball Coach High School Head Field Hockey Coach High School Head Boys' Soccer Coach High School Head Girls' Soccer Coach High School Head Softball Coach High School Head Boys' Track Coach High School Head Girls' Track Coach High School Golf Coach High School Golf Coach High School Girls' Tennis Coach High School Girls' Tennis Coach High School Volleyball Coach High School Girls' Lacrosse Coach
<u>D.3.5</u>	<u>LEVEL 5</u> :	High School Head Cross Country Coach High School Gymnastics Coach High School Indoor Track Coach
<u>D.3.6</u>	<u>LE</u> VEL <u>6</u> :	High School Assistant Baseball Coach High School Assistant Boys' Basketball Coach High School Assistant Girls' Basketball Coach High School Assistant Field Hockey High School Assistant Football Coach (5) High School Assistant Boys' Soccer Coach High School Assistant Girls' Soccer Coach High School Assistant Softball Coach High School Assistant Boys' Track Coach High School Assistant Girls' Track Coach High School Assistant Indoor Track Coach High School Assistant Wrestling Coach Middle School Cross Country Coach
<u>D.3.7</u>	LEVEL 7:	High School Fall Head Cheerleading Coach High School Winter Head Cheerleading Coach High School Assistant Volleyball Coach Middle School Baseball Coach Middle School Boys' Basketball Coach Middle School Girls' Basketball Coach Middle School Intramural Advisor Middle School Boys' Soccer Coach Middle School Girls' Soccer Coach Middle School Softball Coach Middle School Track Coach
<u>D.3.8</u>	LEVEL 8:	High School Unified Sports Head Coach Middle School Cheerleading Coach Middle School Assistant Cross Country Coach

D.3.9	LEVEL 9:	High School Fall Cheerleading Choreographer High School Winter Cheerleading Choreographer High School Assistant Unified Sports Coach Middle School Assistant Track Coach Middle School Unified Sports Coach
<u>D.4</u>	Extra Curric	ular Positions
<u>D.4.1</u>	LEVEL 1:	High School Band Director
<u>D.4.2</u>	LEVEL 2:	High School Student Activity Account - Financial Secretary
D.4.3	LEVEL 3:	High School Student Activity Director
<u>D.4.4</u>	LEVEL 4:	
<u>D.4.5</u>	<u>LEVEL 5</u> :	High School Dramatics Director High School Senior Class Advisor High School Assistant Marching Band Director
<u>D.4.6</u>	<u>LEVEL 6</u> :	High School Choral Director High School Newspaper Advisor Middle School Band Director
<u>D.4.7</u>	LEVEL 7:	High School Band Assistant (2) High School Assistant Dramatics Director High School Junior Class Advisor High School Head Yearbook Advisor
<u>D.4.8</u>	LEVEL 8:	High School National Honor Society Advisor High School Student Government Advisor High School Assistant Yearbook Advisor Middle School Assistant Band Director Middle School Choral Director Middle School Dramatics Director Middle School Newspaper Advisor Middle School Yearbook Advisor
<u>D.4.9</u>	<u>LEVEL 9</u> :	High School Freshman Class Advisor High School Sophomore Class Advisor High School Vocational Club Advisor (4) Middle School National Junior Honor Society Advisor Middle School Student Government Advisor

SIGNATURE PAGE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereunto have caused these presents to be executed by their proper officers, hereunto duly authorized, and their seals affixed hereto as of the date, herein below:

KILLINGLY BO	OARD OF EDUCATION
BY:	Ja (2)
	John Burns, Chairperson
WITNESS:	5t rif
	Steve Rioux, Superintendent of Schools
DATE:	November 13, 2019

KILLINGLY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

BY: Nicola Able, President

WITNESS:

Sinda Cleman

Linda Alleman, Vice President

DATE: November 13, 2019